IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JAMES GUZMAN,)	
Appellant,)	
vs.)	CASE NO. 89,640
STATE OF FLORIDA,)	
Appellee.)))	

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT IN AND FOR VOLUSIA COUNTY, FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

GERARD F. KEATING, P.A.

GERARD F. KEATING Fla. Bar #328571 318 Silver Beach Avenue Daytona Beach, FL 32118 (904) 252-2501

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The symbol (R.), plus the page number, will refer to Record in Volumes I, II, III, which were consecutively numbered as Pages 1 through 484 by the court reporter in the <u>record on appeal</u>.

The symbol (T.), plus the page number, will refer to

Transcript in Volumes I-XXVI which were also consecutively

numbered as pages 1 through 2371 by the court reporter in the

record on appeal.

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JAMES GUZMAN,)		
Appellant,)		
VS.)	CASE N	o. 80,750
STATE OF FLORIDA,)		
Appellee.)))		

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

JAMES GUZMAN (GUZMAN) was arrested for the murder of David Colvin (Colvin) on December 13, 1991. GUZMAN was indicted for first degree murder and armed robbery with a deadly weapon on January 7, 1992.

The case proceeded to jury trial on September 14, 1992. The jury found GUZMAN guilty as charged of first degree murder and armed robbery. At the penalty phase the trial court sentenced GUZMAN to death finding five aggravating circumstances and no mitigating circumstances. Appellant filed a Notice of Appeal to the Florida Supreme Court.

The Florida Supreme Court reversed the conviction and sentence of death and remanded for a new trial. Mandate and opinion was issued. (R.01-10)

The court appointed special private counsel who was conflict free to represent GUZMAN in his new trial. (R.1617)

GUZMAN filed numerous motions (R. 70-337) The vast majority

of which were denied by the trial court.

This case proceeded to jury trial on December 2, 1996. During the third day of jury selection on December 4, 1996, GUZMAN decided to waive a jury trial for guilt or innocence and to waive an advisory jury for sentencing. (R.403) This waiver was conducted in open court on the record and the defendant GUZMAN stated his reasons for the waiver on the record. (T 1235-1248)

The State's primary case consisted of two witnesses who alleged that GUZMAN had confessed the murder to them (Martha Cronin and James Paul Rogers) (T. 1149) and (T. 1405). All of other witnesses presented circumstantial evidence concerning the murder.

During Roger's testimony at trial he testified that Rogers never wanted to get together with GUZMAN again after GUZMAN allegedly confessed in jail to the murder of Colvin "because he done told me he killed somebody in Miami" (T. 1946 and 1965) GUZMAN made a Motion for Mistrial which was denied. (T 1946) Said testimony was the subject matter of a pretrial Motion In Limine (T 1962, 1963, 1964) Rogers had not testified at the first trial. Rogers signed an Affidavit stating that GUZMAN never confessed to him. The affidavit was introduced into evidence and read into the record (T. 1929, 1930) Rogers was a seven-time convicted felon. (T. 1929)

Dr. Steiner the medical examiner testified live at trial and a video tape of his statements at the crime scene on August 12, 1997 was played. In his video taped statements, Dr. Steiner said that the victim's sword (T. 1444) could not have been the murder

weapon because it would have been in worse shape. Dr. Steiner identified the identical sword as the murder weapon at trial. Dr. Steiner also identified a fishing knife as a possible murder weapon. He also said each of these weapons had physical characteristics which could not be present on the murder weapon.

At the conclusion of the State's case, GUZMAN'S Motion for Directed Verdict was denied. (T. 1967-1974) GUZMAN renewed his Motion for Directed Verdict at the conclusion of the defense case. (T. 2235)

GUZMAN also testified in his own defense (T. 2089) The State called one rebuttal witness then rested. (T. 2230, 2234)

Following deliberation the trial court found GUZMAN guilty of the charge of First Degree Murder and Armed Robbery (T. 2282) (R.448-458) the penalty phase began on December 27, 1996. GUZMAN filed a Motion for Judgment of Acquittal At The Sentencing Hearing And Alternative Motion to Dismiss with copies of law citations attached. (R.426-447) The State presented one witness and the defense presented no witness. (T. 2311, 2313) Following deliberations the judge rendered his sentencing decision. The trial court sentenced GUZMAN to death finding five aggravating circumstances mitigating circumstance. (R.459-469) and no Appellant filed a Notice of Appeal. This court has jurisdiction Article 5, Section 3 (B)(1), Florida Constitution.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

David Colvin (hereinafter Colvin) was killed on Saturday, August 10 or Sunday, August 11, 1991. (T. 1438) His body was discovered on Monday, August 12, 1991 at the Imperial Motor Lodge (hereinafter motel) in Daytona Beach, Florida by the motel custodian. (T. 1320) Colvin had been killed by a series of stab wounds and incise wounds inflicted by a large knife. (T. 1435) At the time of his death, Colvin had a blood alcohol level of .34. (T. 1453)

Colvin had lived at the motel for several months prior to his death. (T. 1308) Colvin had a brawl with a sword and knife with an unknown assailant some time prior to his death. (T. 1483-1487)

In late July, 1991, JAMES GUZMAN (GUZMAN) moved into the motel. (T. 2090) Several days after having moved into the motel, GUZMAN met Martha Cronin (hereinafter Cronin) on August 1, 1991. (T. 1635) GUZMAN and Cronin began living with each other shortly thereafter. (T. 1636)

GUZMAN met Colvin after moving into the Motel, but prior to meeting Cronin. (T. 2092) GUZMAN had helped Colvin move himself and his girlfriend from Room 205 of the motel to Room 114. (T. 1324) GUZMAN had used Colvin's telephone in Room 205 prior to the move. (T. 2098) The custodian of the motel testified that he moved this telephone to Colvin's new room as part of Colvin's move. (T. 1478)

On August 10, 1991, Colvin asked GUZMAN to drive his car for him to a gas station in Daytona Beach because Colvin did not have a driver's license. (T. 2099, 2100) After having driven Colvin to

the gas station, Colvin and GUZMAN went to a tavern known as the Office Bar. The parties drank a beer there about 10:20 a.m.. Subsequently, GUZMAN drove Colvin to the International House of Pancakes in Daytona Beach and they ate breakfast. (T. 2103, 2104) At the International House of Pancakes (IHOP), a man by the name of Curtis Wallace (hereinafter Wallace) got into an argument with Colvin. (T. 2106, 2107) Thereafter, GUZMAN drove Colvin back to the Motel. (T. 2108) around twelve o'clock noon.

GUZMAN testified that he gave the keys to the car and motel room back to Colvin, then went back to Cronin's room who was getting ready to go to work as a prostitute. (T. 2108, 2109) Cronin worked as a prostitute on Ridgewood Avenue (US 1) in Daytona Beach to support herself and her crack cocaine habit. (T. 1635, 1636) GUZMAN began providing protection for her after they met. (T. 2093) At about 3:00 p.m. in the afternoon of August 10, 1991, GUZMAN testified that Cronin brought Curtis Wallace back to her room where GUZMAN was staying. (T. 2112) GUZMAN testified that Wallace had a piece of jewelry a ring that he wanted to sell. GUZMAN told Wallace that he could get rid of the ring for Wallace, but Wallace was reluctant to deal with GUZMAN because of their antipathy towards each other. (T. 2113) Cronin convinced Wallace to let GUZMAN take the ring so it could be traded for drugs and cash. (T. 2113) GUZMAN then got the ring and called a person that he knew would want this kind of jewelry. (T. 2115)

Cronin testified differently at trial. She claimed that on August 10, 1991, after a morning of prostitution, she had come back

in to her room (#108) at the motel that she shared with GUZMAN. (T. 1642) She testified that GUZMAN told her that he was going to help Colvin by driving him to the bank. Thereafter, she went to sleep and awakened when GUZMAN came back into the room. (T. 1644) Cronin testified that GUZMAN showed her Colvin's car and motel room keys, then told her what they were. Cronin then went to work as a prostitute and left the room about 11:00 a.m.. (T. 1646) Cronin testified that she came back into the room around 2:00 p.m. that same day. (T. 1647, 1649) Cronin testified that about thirty (30) minutes after she arrived, GUZMAN came back to the room with a plastic bag and looked upset. Cronin said she asked him what was wrong, but that he left the room without answering. thereafter, GUZMAN returned to the room and told her "I did it". Cronin testified that she asked what he had done. (T. 1652) Cronin testified that GUZMAN then said he killed Colvin and showed her the ring that he supposedly got from Colvin after having killed him. (T. 1652) Cronin testified that GUZMAN told her that Colvin had passed out and that GUZMAN had stabbed him with Colvin's own (T. 1655) Cronin testified that both she and samurai sword. GUZMAN examined the ring and discussed what they could get for it. (T. 1656) Cronin testified that GUZMAN then called a person that he knew that would want this kind of jewelry. (T. 1657)

The testimony is unrefuted that GUZMAN took the ring to a drug dealer by the name of Leroy Gadson a/k/a "Paco". (T. 1658) GUZMAN rode his bike to show Paco the ring and to trade it for crack cocaine and cash. After having procured the crack cocaine and

cash, he brought the crack back to Cronin. (T. 1659) Cronin testified that she was very upset because GUZMAN had not gotten enough for the trade. (T. 1659)

GUZMAN testified that he left Cronin's motel room after having returned and taking one hit of the crack cocaine because Wallace was present. (T. 1659) Cronin testified that Wallace was not present at the time that GUZMAN came back with the cocaine. She testified that she and GUZMAN consumed the crack cocaine. (T. 1660)

The testimony is unrefuted that GUZMAN returned that night to get more cocaine and cash from Gadson as part of the trade for the ring. (T. 1660) GUZMAN then testified that he gave Cronin the rest of the crack cocaine and that she subsequently gave it to Wallace. (T. 2118)

GUZMAN testified that he then left the motel to go stay with a friend at another apartment complex in Daytona Beach. GUZMAN testified that Cronin asked him to come back. (T. 2124)

GUZMAN then testified that the police detectives knocked on the motel room door on August 12, 1991 when they were investigating the murder of Colvin. (T. 2128) The detectives talked with both Cronin and GUZMAN, who both told the detectives that they knew nothing about the murder. (T. 2128) The detectives gave GUZMAN their card, told him to keep in touch and left afterwards. (T. 2134)

Subsequently, GUZMAN moved from the Imperial Motor Lodge and moved from place to place. He kept in touch with the detectives to

let them know where he was. (T. 2134)

Testimony from Detectives Flynt and Wright showed that they had interviewed two witnesses, Artonio Lee (hereinafter Lee) and Curtis Wallace, on August 12, 1991 and thereafter. (T. 2010)

Both of these witnesses had told the detectives that they had seen Colvin alive at the coke machine at the motel on the night of August 10, 1991 (Saturday) at about 8:00 or 9:00 p.m.. (T. 2011)

Colvin had been wearing his ring at the time. In addition, Lee implicated Wallace in the killing. (T. 1521, 1530)

Carmelo Garcia testified (T.2023) in February, 1992 he met a prostitute, Martha Cronin who used the alias Terri (R. 2026) They smoked crack cocaine together and had sex. (T,. 2029) Martha Cronin told Garcia about her boyfriend GUZMAN "He's in jail for killing somebody, but he didn't really kill nobody. I just told the police that ... because I had a warrant for my arrest". (T.2029) Cronin testified that at the time she gave GUZMAN up to police she would do absolutely anything to get out of jail. (T. 1768)

Cronin said GUZMAN really didn't kill nobody and that she lied to police.

Garcia did not know GUZMAN in February 1992. Garcia first met GUZMAN in the Volusia County Branch Jail in 1995. (T.2034) Garcia then told GUZMAN what Cronin had told him in 1992.

On November 14, 1991, GUZMAN was shot by Wallace in an altercation concerning Cronin. (T. 2152) Wallace had beaten Cronin and GUZMAN had confronted Wallace. (T. 2152) Wallace then

pulled a gun and shot GUZMAN (T. 2152).

GUZMAN broke up with Cronin when she was in jail. GUZMAN went to visit Cronin the jail on December 12, 1991 to tell Cronin that he was leaving her and that he wanted nothing more to do with her. She started crying and GUZMAN left. (T. 2145)

On December 13, 1991, GUZMAN contacted Detective Sylvester. Sylvester asked where GUZMAN was and after he told her, Detective Sylvester came to talk to GUZMAN along with another detective. (T. 2147) At that time, they arrested GUZMAN for the murder of Colvin and transported him to Daytona Beach Police Department. GUZMAN then demanded an attorney be appointed for him. GUZMAN made no statements to police. (T. 2157)

GUZMAN was booked and taken to the Volusia County Branch Jail. At a later time, he was placed in the same block with James Paul Rogers (hereinafter Rogers). Rogers was being held in Volusia County Branch Jail on a charge of Grand Theft. Rogers testified that GUZMAN confessed that he killed Colvin. (T. 1908) Rogers also wrote an Affidavit that was introduced into evidence at trial that denied that GUZMAN ever confessed to Rogers. (T. 1931)

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

- POINT 1: THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING DEFENDANT'S MOTION FOR MISTRIAL WHEN A STATE WITNESS TESTIFIED ABOUT THE DEFENDANT'S PRIOR MURDER CONVICTION.
- POINT 2: THE CONVICTION OF JAMES GUZMAN WAS NOT SUPPORTED BY COMPETENT SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE.
- POINT 3: THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO DISMISS THE STATE'S CASE BASED ON DOUBLE JEOPARDY.
- POINT 4: VARIOUS ISSUES.
- POINT 5: THE DEATH SENTENCE IS DISPROPORTIONATE UNDER THE FACTS OF THIS CASE.
- POINT 6: THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FINDING THAT THE MURDER WAS DONE IN A HEINOUS, ATROCIOUS OR CRUEL MANNER WITHIN THE MEANING OF FLORIDA STATUTE §921.141 (5) (E).
- POINT 7: THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FINDING THAT THE MURDER WAS COMMITTED TO AVOID A LAWFUL ARREST WITHIN THE MEANING OF FLORIDA STATUTE §921.141 (5) (E).
- POINT 8: THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FINDING THAT THE MURDER WAS DONE IN A COLD, CALCULATED AND PREMEDITATED (CCP) MANNER WITHIN THE MEANING OF FLORIDA STATUTE §921.141 (5) (i)

ARGUMENT

POINT 1

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING DEFENDANT'S MOTION FOR MISTRIAL WHEN A STATE WITNESS TESTIFIED ABOUT THE DEFENDANT'S PRIOR MURDER CONVICTION.

The Trial Court committed constitutional harmful error in denying the defendant's Motion for Mistrial when the State's witness Paul Rogers testified about GUZMAN'S prior murder conviction.

The State called James Paul Rogers as a witness. Mr. Rogers had seven prior felony convictions. (T. 1893) James Paul Rogers was in the Volusia County Branch Jail with GUZMAN in May of 1992. (T. 1894) They were roommates in the same cell for a time. (T. 1897) James Paul Rogers testified that GUZMAN made a jail house confession to him and GUZMAN told Rogers that he killed the victim David Colvin by stabbing him with a sword ten or eleven times. (T. 1907)

On redirect examination the following questions and answers occurred between the State Attorney and James Paul Rogers. (T. 1946)

"Question: Did you ever want to get together with Mr. Guzman again after he told you about this homicide?

Answer: No because he done told me he killed somebody in Miami, and that he",

"Mr. Keating: Motion for Mistrial".

In support of his motion, the defense cited the case of

Farrell v. State 682 So.2d 204 (Fla. 5th DCA, 1996) (T. 1948) The State cited Williamson vs. State, 681 So.2d 688 (Fla. 1996). The State argued that Rogers statement goes to state of the mind of the declarant and the reason why he was afraid of GUZMAN and why he did not come forward on earlier occasions to testify against the defendant. (T. 1947) The defendant argued that the probative value was outweighed by unfair prejudice §90.403 Fla.Stat. (T. 1962)

GUZMAN'S case was one of whom do you believe, and thus, evidence showing that GUZMAN had committed a similar crime became extremely significant.

Rogers did not testify in GUZMAN'S first murder trial in 1992. In fact, Rogers signed an affidavit before the first trial stating that GUZMAN never confessed to him at all. (T. 1929) In the second trial Rogers recanted his former recantation. (Defendant's Exhibit #8, T. 1930)

This testimony was the subject of an Order granting defendant's pretrial Motion in Limine, (T. 1949) (T. 1959) (R. 383) on a certificate dated November 13, 1996. The motion stated: "It is also expected that James Paul Rogers will state that GUZMAN threatened to do to Martha Cronin like the murder he did in Miami to the prostitute there." (T. 1959) (T. 1963) The Order Granting Motion in Limine And In Part Deferring Motion in Limine states:

"The defendant's Motion in Limine is granted for the testimony of Paul James Rogers who is expected to state that Guzman threatened to do to Martha Cronin like the murder he did in Miami to the prostitute there." (R. 366, 367)

Said order directly controlled and prohibited Rogers' testimony regarding the Miami murder. The introduction of Rogers' testimony violated the court's order and denied GUZMAN a fair trial.

Earlier in Rogers' testimony, the State Attorney was warned that his attempt to introduce this testimony was prohibited by Order In Limine. (T. 1924, 1923)

The State Attorney withdrew the question then (T. 1924, 1925) only to have Rogers mention it later. (T. 1946)

This is purported <u>Williams</u> Rule Evidence (F.S. 90.404 (2) (b) 1) to show GUZMAN committed a similar crime in Miami. It was only offered to prove GUZMAN'S bad character. The State never gave proper notice of its intent to use <u>Williams</u> Rule Evidence. Proof of guilt was not clear and convincing, therefore the violation of the <u>Williams</u> Rule may not be considered harmless <u>Adan v. State</u>, 453 So.2d 1195 (3rd DCA 1984).

The defendant argued that the testimony from Rogers was so inflammatory that the prejudicial value far outweighed the probative value and that it constituted unfair prejudice to GUZMAN. (T. 1962)

The court denied the Motion for Mistrial on the authority of the <u>Williamson</u> case. The court struck the response given by witness Rogers. (T. 1965)

The court stated: "Further, what did I learn this morning, Mr. Keating, from that testimony that I did not already know, based on the pleadings and the prior hearings in the case?

Mr. Keating: You found out this morning from this witness that GUZMAN had committed a murder against a prostitute in Miami.

The Court: Didn't I know that from the Motion in Limine?

Mr. Keating: I put it in the Motion in Limine.

The Court: Yes sir." (T. 1964)

The <u>Farrell</u> case at 682 So.2d 204 (Fla.5th DCA 1996) supports GUZMAN'S position. In <u>Farrell</u> a prosecution for Lewd and Lascivious Assault, the trial court erred in admitting the testimony from a child victim that the defendant said he had been in prison for molesting another child; even though such statement would have been relevant to explain why the child feared the defendant and delayed reporting of the incident. The court held that the statement should not have been admitted because its probative value was outweighed by its unfair prejudice.

How is a Motion for Mistrial construed when done in a Non Jury Trial?

In <u>Daniels v. State</u>, 634 So.2d 187 (Fla.3d DCA 1994) defendants were convicted of a home invasion and robberies and were sentenced as habitual offenders to life sentences after a bench trial in the Circuit Court of Dade County. The defendants appealed. The appellate court held that the defendants failed to overcome the presumption that the court's verdict at a bench trial was based solely upon admissible evidence. The reference by the state to two other robberies during the opening statement was later ruled inadmissible by the trial court. The court then gave the defendants the option of moving for a mistrial and having the case

heard by a jury or proceeding with her sitting as trier of fact. The defendants chose to rely on the judge's ability to disregard inadmissible evidence and the trial court expressly stated that she would exclude evidence of non-charged crimes.

The presumption that a trial judge sitting as a finder of fact disregards erroneously admitted evidence is overcome only if the court discloses that the trial judge relied upon erroneous evidence. Supra at page 190

In <u>Daniels</u> the Defendant and the State agreed to waive trial by jury like GUZMAN. Following opening statements, Judge Smith revisited the Williams Rule question and ruled that evidence pertaining to Bruening and Watson robberies would be admissible to show identity, but the evidence of the other robberies was not similar enough to warrant admission. Judge Smith advised the defendants that she had heard certain evidence before excluding it from trial. However, all three defendants chose to proceed without a jury. (page 189, 190 <u>Supra</u>)... "Following closing argument, the trial court excluded the evidence of the Bruening and Watson robberies. The court found the evidence against the defendants in the Zarco case to be overwhelming."

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