FILED SID J. WHITE

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

NOV 5 1997

CLERK, SUPREME COURT By______ Chief Deputy Clerk

JAMES GUZMAN,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. 89,640

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR VOLUSIA COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

KENNETH S. NUNNELLEY Assistant Attorney General Fla. Bar #0998818 444 Seabreeze Blvd. 5th FL Daytona Beach, FL 32118 (904) 238-4990

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

evidence. See, e.g., State v. Arroyo, 422 So.2d 50, 51 (Fla. 3d DCA 1982); United States v. Vaughan, 443 F.2d 92 (2d Cir. 1970); United States v. Turnipseed, 272 F.2d 106 (7th Cir. 1959). Under the facts of this case, Guzman cannot overcome the presumption of propriety that attaches in a bench trial.

Following argument on the motion for mistrial, the trial court stated:

The Court: All right. The court rules as follows: the motion for mistrial will be denied on the authority of the *Williamson* case.

The response given by the witness, Rogers, will be stricken -- the question and the answer will be stricken from the record of this case.

And, Mr. Keating, what will be your position insofar as the motion for mistrial is concerned? I've denied that.

Mr. Keating: Yes, sir.

The Court: All right. And I will strike the question and the answer from the record, only in the sense that the court will not consider that evidence.

(TR1965-66). Based upon the plain statement of the trial judge, the "erroneous" evidence was not considered, the presumption is not overcome, and there is no basis for reversal.

Despite Guzman's argument, he has pointed to nothing in the record that suggests that the trial judge did, in fact, consider the evidence at issue. Guzman has failed to carry his burden of overcoming the presumption of correctness that attaches in the context of a bench trial, and the conviction should be affirmed in all respects.

Further, under the particular facts of this case, the fact that Guzman had previously been convicted of a murder that occurred in Miami had been made known to the trial court through a defense motion in limine that concerned Rogers' testimony. That motion in *limine* stated, in relevant part, "[i]t is also expected that Paul James Rogers will state that Guzman threatened to do to Martha Cronin like the murder he did in Miami to the prostitute there." (R366).¹⁴ The motion was granted as to that testimony.¹⁵ (R383). Assuming, arguendo, that the trial testimony fell within the in *limine* ruling, there is no basis for reversal, because the trial court had already been made aware of the challenged testimony, and ruled that it would be excluded.¹⁶ The court adhered to that ruling at trial, and it makes no sense to argue, in the face of a plain ruling to the contrary, that Rogers' trial testimony was considered by the trial judge. Even if the trial testimony was improper, there is no basis for a mistrial, and any error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. State v. DiGuilio, 491 So. 2d 1129 (Fla. 1986).

14

15

Whether the testimony at trial falls within the motion *in limine* is debatable. The court found that it did, and the State does not challenge that ruling.

Guzman does not explain, because he cannot, how he was prejudiced by the trial testimony but was not prejudiced by the same information when he placed it before the court in a motion *in limine*.

The motion *in limine* appears to be a variation of this issue that has not come up before.

To the extent that further discussion of this issue is necessary, the fact that the motion *in limine* informed the trial court that Guzman had previously been convicted of murder, and the fact that the court granted that motion, is fatal to Guzman's claim. It stands reason on its head to suggest that a defendant can obtain an *in limine* ruling excluding certain testimony (which by definition means that the judge knows what the testimony is), waive a jury trial, and then, if the *in limine* ruling is violated, obtain a reversal. That argument makes no sense -- even if the trial testimony violated the *in limine* ruling, the judge learned nothing that he did not already know (and had already found inadmissible) by virtue of the defendant's own actions.¹⁷ There is no basis for reversal, and the conviction and sentence should be affirmed in all respects.

Finally, there is no basis for reversal because Rogers' testimony was not inadmissible in the first place because it was relevant to the issue of his credibility, as well as explaining why he did not come forward to identify Guzman for several years. The facts of this case are essentially identical to the facts of *Williamson v. State*, 681 So. 2d 688 (Fla. 1996), where this Court held that admission of evidence of the defendant's prior murder was

Rogers' testimony at trial was only that Guzman had committed a murder in Miami -- no particulars of the crime were given at trial. In contrast, the crime was described with some particularity in the motion *in limine*.

proper. Williamson v. State, 681 So. 2d at 695-6. Because the testimony at issue here was relevant to Rogers' credibility in explaining why he did not come forward sooner, it would not have been error to admit that testimony. Therefore, there is no basis for reversal of Guzman's conviction and sentence.

II. THE EVIDENCE IS SUFFICIENT TO SUSTAIN THE CONVICTION

On pages 26-35 of his brief, Guzman argues that this is a circumstantial evidence case, and that the evidence is not sufficient to sustain the conviction. Both of those assertions are incorrect for the reasons set out below.

Guzman confessed his involvement in the murder of David Colvin to Martha Cronin and to James Rogers. Guzman told Cronin that the victim was passed out in his room, but woke up while Guzman was trying to steal cash from him. (TR1654). Guzman stated that he hit the victim in the head, knocked him out, and then stabbed him with the victim's samurai sword. (TR1655). Guzman had possession of the victim's diamond ring at that time. (TR1655). At a subsequent point in time, Guzman told Cronin that he killed the victim with his sword following a fight over money. (TR1664).

Guzman told James Rogers that, on the day of the murder, Cronin was going to go to work as a prostitute in order to obtain money with which to obtain crack cocaine. (TR1905). At that point in time, Guzman told Cronin that he was going to obtain the needed money by robbing the victim. (TR1905). Guzman told Rogers that

while he was going through the victim's dresser, the victim woke up. (TR1906). The victim sat up in the bed¹⁸, and Guzman hit him with the sword and "stuck" him ten or eleven times. (TR1907-8). Guzman then cleaned up the sword and himself, took the victim's ring and about \$600, returned to his room, and threw everything away. (TR1908-9).¹⁹

Despite Guzman's protestations to the contrary, this is not a circumstantial evidence case. The confessions set out above are direct evidence under settled law, and the circumstantial evidence standard does not apply to this case. See, Myers v. State, No. 85,617 (Fla. 1997); Hardwick v. State, 521 So. 2d 1071, 1075 (Fla.), cert. denied, 488 U.S. 871, 109 S. Ct. 185, 102 L. Ed. 2d 154 (1988). The evidence set out above, coupled with the forensic evidence and Guzman's undisputed possession of the victim's ring, is more than sufficient to sustain the conviction. When stripped of its pretensions, Guzman's claim is nothing more than a claim that the finder of fact gave too much weight to the direct evidence.

This is consistent with the testimony of FDLE analyst Leroy Parker, who testified that the victim's head was about a foot above the bed when some of the blows were struck. (TR1593).

¹⁹

On page 28 of his brief, Guzman argues that witnesses Lee and Wallace saw the victim during the late evening hours of Saturday, August 10, or Sunday, August 11, 1991. In fact, Lee ultimately said that he saw the victim on Friday (the day before his death). (TR1562). Wallace said that he saw the victim on Saturday or Sunday -- both men were very confused about the exact time that they saw the victim. (TR2013).

That claim is not cognizable on appeal, because determinations of the credibility of witnesses are the province of the finder of fact, not of the appellate courts. See, e.g., Demps v. State, 462 So. 2d 1074, 1075 (Fla. 1984); Jent v. State, 408 So. 2d 1024, 1028 (Fla. 1981); Land v. State, 59 So. 2d 370 (Fla. 1952). The "arguments" contained in Guzman's brief are nothing more than his continuing quarrel with the trial court's credibility determinations. The conviction and sentence should be affirmed in all respects.

III. THE DOUBLE JEOPARDY CLAIM HAS NO LEGAL BASIS

On pages 36-41 of his brief, Guzman argues that his retrial following this Court's direct appeal reversal of his conviction and sentence violated the Double Jeopardy prohibition of the United States and Florida Constitutions. This claim has no legal basis, is foreclosed by settled law, and is founded upon an incorrect interpretation of the Double Jeopardy prohibition.

This Court is, of course, aware of the basis for its 1994 reversal of Guzman's conviction and sentence. See, Guzman I, supra. Guzman now argues, in an issue that was raised for the first time at the final sentencing hearing, that his retrial following an appellate reversal violated the double jeopardy clause. (R426 *et seq*). Putting aside for the moment the question of whether the issue was timely raised, the law is well-settled that retrial of a defendant whose conviction was reversed on grounds other than
sufficiency of the evidence does not violate the double jeopardy clause. See, Burks v. United States, 437 U.S. 1, 98 S. Ct. 2141, 57 L. Ed. 2d 1 (1977); Hall v. State, 381 So. 2d 683, 690 n. 5 (Fla. 1980). Guzman has cited no contrary authority because no such decision exists. This claim has no legal basis, and is not basis for reversal.

In connection with this argument, Guzman maintains the position that a mistrial should have been granted *sua sponte* during Guzman's first trial. However, the case cited in Guzman's brief (*Wynn v. Pound*, 653 So. 2d 1116 (Fla. 5 DCA 1995)), seems to indicate that a *sua sponte* grant of a mistrial would have been error that would have barred retrial.²⁰ See also, C.A.K. v. State, 661 So. 2d 365 (Fla. 5 DCA 1995). In any event, because Guzman takes the position that a mistrial **should** have been granted in the first trial, his double jeopardy claim collapses²¹. If the trial court should have declared a mistrial but did not, then retrial cannot violate the double jeopardy clause because retrial is the remedy that Guzman would have received. Guzman's argument is internally inconsistent, and there can be no legitimate double jeopardy claim.

Guzman refers to there being "no manifest necessity for retrial." That phrase has no meaning.

Guzman argues "[a] mistrial should have been granted in the first trial *sua sponte* when Boyne testified." *Initial Brief* at 37.

On the other hand, if declaration of a mistrial would have been error, Guzman has no double jeopardy claim available to him, either. Under that scenario, retrial is permissible. Whether or not a mistrial should have been declared in the first trial does not matter -- reversal on appeal is no impediment to a retrial under well-settled law. This claim is without legal support, and does not provide a basis for reversal.

Guzman also claims that the prosecutor in the original trial "was at fault for causing the first trial to be reversed." Initial Brief at 37. That argument is incredible, given this Court's explicit ruling that "an actual conflict of interest and prejudice has been shown in this record and, consequently, that the **denial of** the motion to withdraw was reversible error." Guzman v. State, 644 So.2d at 999. The error during the first trial was committed by the trial judge when he denied the motion to withdraw -- Guzman cannot transform an incorrect ruling on the motion to withdraw into some sort of prosecutorial misconduct. Despite the legal inaccuracy of Guzman's position, he goes on to argue that the prosecutor's actions "and the trial court's denial [of the motion to withdraw] could only have been intended to 'provoke a mistrial so as to afford the prosecutor a more favorable opportunity to convict Guzman.'" Initial Brief at 38. That argument is absurd, especially in light of the fact that Guzman was convicted at his first trial. There is no basis for reversal, and the conviction and sentence

should be affirmed in all respects.

IV. "VARIOUS ISSUES"

On pages 42-43 of his brief, Guzman presents five "issues" which are argued in summary form. None of those "issues" are properly briefed²², and, even if they were, there is no basis for reversal contained therein.

Guzman's claim that the "required elements of robbery" were not proven is not preserved for review because no motion for judgment of acquittal was made. (TR1967). While Guzman did move for a judgment of acquittal as to the murder charge, that motion did not address the robbery charge. Under settled law, the sufficiency of the evidence of robbery is not preserved for review. *Jordan v. State*, 441 So. 2d 657, 658 (Fla. 3d DCA 1983)("The defendant's various contentions that the evidence was insufficient to support his convictions for trafficking in narcotics and carrying a concealed firearm are not properly preserved for appellate review where no motion for judgment of acquittal was made at the conclusion of the case. *State v. Barber*, 301 So. 2d 7 (Fla. 1974)."); *See also*, Rule 3.380(b), *Fla. R. Crim. Pro.*²³

Alternatively and secondarily, this claim lacks merit. While

22

Williams v. State Dept. of Transportation, 579 So. 2d 226, 231 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991); Rodriguez v. State, 502 So. 2d 18, 19 (Fla. 3d DCA 1986).

Guzman's motion for judgment of acquittal at the close of all the evidence was directed only to the murder charge. (TR2235-41).

Guzman has not identified any shortcomings in the evidence supporting the robbery, the evidence shows that the Guzman was armed with a knife when he began the robbery; that he then used a sword belonging to the victim to kill him; that he took the property of the victim in order to obtain money for drugs; and that the victim died as a result of Guzman striking him multiple times with a sword. In light of the evidence, there is no colorable argument that the State failed to prove the taking of money and property belonging to the victim, with the intent to permanently deprive him thereof, through the use of force, violence, or assault. §812.13, *Fla. Stat.* The elements of robbery were established beyond a reasonable doubt, and the conviction for that offense should not be disturbed.

The second "issue" raised by Guzman is a claim that the trial court erred in overruling his hearsay objection to certain testimony by Cronin. The testimony at issue was Guzman's statement to Cronin that "I killed [the victim]." (TR1652). On its face, that statement is an admission by a party-opponent that falls within the §90.803(18) hearsay exception. The argument that the "record does not reflect what exception to the hearsay rule" allowed the admission of the testimony is meritless. This "claim" is not a basis for relief.

Guzman's third "claim" is a one-sentence argument that Cronin's testimony was illegally obtained and therefore

inadmissible. The basis for the claim of "illegality" is not disclosed, but that makes no difference. The law is settled that, at least in this context, Guzman has no standing to raise this claim, because it is based (apparently) on a perceived violation of **Cronin's** constitutional rights. *Broadrick v. Oklahoma*, 413 U.S. 601, 93 S. Ct. 2908, 2915, 37 L. Ed. 2d 830 (1973) (". . . constitutional rights are personal and may not be asserted vicariously."); See also, *United States v. Pawner*, 447 U.S. 727, 100 S. Ct. 2439, 65 L. Ed. 2d 468 (1980); *McGowan v. Maryland*, 366 U.S. 420, 81 S. Ct. 1101, 6 L. Ed. 2d 393 (1961).

Guzman's fourth "issue" is that, under §90.614.1, "Rogers [sic] trial testimony should not have been believed by the trial judge" This claim is meritless for two reasons. First, §90.614 has nothing to do with the issue set out in Guzman's brief. Second, assessments of the credibility of witnesses are not the function of the appellate courts. *See, Myers, supra*. This claim has no legal basis, and therefore is not a basis for relief. Finally, this issue is not preserved for review because it was not raised below.

Guzman's final "claim" is that this Court violated some right accruing to the defendant when this Court reversed and remanded his original conviction and sentence based on one issue without deciding the remaining issues raised in brief. This issue is frivolous. Guzman received what he asked for in his prior appeal

(reversal of his conviction), and, had this Court gone on to address the remaining issues, it would have been an exercise in futility on the part of this Court. No rule of law entitles Guzman to an advisory opinion from this Court on issues that were not dispositive of his prior appeal. This issue has no legal basis, and the conviction and sentence should be affirmed in all respects.

V. DEATH IS THE PROPER SENTENCE

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